

June 13, 1969

Memorandum 69-73

Subject: Study 66 - Quasi-Community Property

Attached to this memorandum are two copies of the tentative recommendation on quasi-community property that was distributed for comment. Please mark your suggested editorial changes on one copy to turn in to the staff at the June 26-28 meeting.

I have been advised informally that the State Bar Committee on the Administration of Justice has approved the tentative recommendation. Of course, this represents only the view of the Committee since only the Board of Governors can determine the position of the State Bar on legislation.

Approximately 30 other persons wrote in for or were sent copies of the tentative recommendation. We received no comments from any of them. I assume that we would have received letters from any of these persons who had objections. You will recall that we checked the tentative recommendation with several law professors who are experts in this field before sending it out generally for comment, and the law professors approved the tentative recommendation subject to some minor revisions which the Commission made before the tentative recommendation was sent out for comment.

The staff suggests that this recommendation be approved for printing. It should be noted that it is likely that legislation will be enacted by the 1969 Legislature that will renumber some of the sections amended in the recommendation. If this is the case, the staff will make the necessary revisions to conform the renumbered sections to the Commission's recommended revisions.

Respectfully submitted,

John H. DeMouilly
Executive Secretary

Revised February 14, 1969

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA LAW
REVISION COMMISSION

TENTATIVE RECOMMENDATION

relating to

QUASI-COMMUNITY PROPERTY

CALIFORNIA LAW REVISION COMMISSION
School of Law
Stanford University
Stanford, California 94305

WARNING: This tentative recommendation is being distributed so that interested persons will be advised of the Commission's tentative conclusions and can make their views known to the Commission. Any comments sent to the Commission will be considered when the Commission determines what recommendation it will make to the California Legislature.

The Commission often substantially revises tentative recommendations as a result of the comments it receives. Hence, this tentative recommendation is not necessarily the recommendation the Commission will submit to the Legislature.

NOTE

This recommendation includes an explanatory Comment to each section of the recommended legislation. The Comments are written as if the legislation were enacted since their primary purpose is to explain the law as it would exist (if enacted) to those who will have occasion to use it after it is in effect.

TENTATIVE RECOMMENDATION OF THE CALIFORNIA

LAW REVISION COMMISSION

relating to

QUASI-COMMUNITY PROPERTY

Married persons who move to California have often acquired property during the marriage while they were domiciled elsewhere which would have been community property had they been domiciled here when it was acquired. This property is in some cases retained in the form in which it was first acquired; in other cases, it is exchanged for real or personal property here. The Legislature and the courts of this state have long been concerned with the problem of what rights, if any, the spouse of the person who originally acquired such property should have therein, or in the property for which it is exchanged, both during the lifetime of the acquiring spouse and upon his death.

The first legislation dealing with these problems was an amendment--made in 1917--to Section 164 of the Civil Code which purported to treat as community property for all purposes all property acquired during the marriage by either husband or wife while domiciled elsewhere which would not have been separate property had the owner been domiciled in California when it was acquired. This amendment was held unconstitutional in Estate of Thornton,¹ decided in 1934. Subsequently in 1935, legislation, much narrower in scope, was enacted which dealt only with the disposition upon death of personal property acquired by a married person while domiciled elsewhere.² Finally, upon recommendation of the California Law Revision

¹ 1 Cal.2d 1, 33 P.2d 1 (1934).

² Cal. Stats. 1935, Ch. 831, p. 2248. See In re Miller, 31 Cal.2d 191, 187 P.2d 722 (1947).

Commission, more comprehensive legislation was enacted in 1957 relating to the rights of a surviving spouse in property acquired by a decedent while domiciled elsewhere³ and in 1961 relating to inter vivos rights in property acquired by a husband and wife while domiciled elsewhere.⁴ This legislation, where appropriate, embraced not only personal property but also real property situated in California. Moreover, as indicated above, it dealt not only with disposition of the property upon death but also with its disposition in the event of divorce or separate maintenance, with homestead rights, and with treatment of the property for gift tax purposes. In these areas, the legislation was intended to equate the rights of married persons who acquire property elsewhere and then become domiciled here with the rights of persons who make their acquisitions while domiciled here. The constitutionality of the legislation has been upheld.⁵ A number of years have passed since its enactment, and the Commission knows of no instance where the purpose of the legislation has been thwarted. Nevertheless, the Commission has been advised of ambiguities in certain of its provisions⁶ and believes that, in the area of divorce and separate maintenance, the coverage of the 1961 statute should be clarified and broadened.

³ Cal. Stats. 1957, Ch. 490, p. 1520; see Recommendation and Study Relating to Rights of Surviving Spouse in Property Acquired by Decedent While Domiciled Elsewhere, 1 Cal. L. Revision Comm'n Reports at E-1 (1957).

⁴ Cal. Stats. 1961, Ch. 636, p. 1838; see Recommendation and Study Relating to Inter Vivos Marital Property Rights in Property Acquired While Domiciled Elsewhere, 3 Cal. L. Revision Comm'n Reports at I-1 (1961).

⁵ Addison V. Addison, 62 Cal.2d 558, 43 Cal. Rptr. 97, 399 P.2d 897 (1965); Estate of Rogers, 245 Cal. App.2d 101, 53 Cal. Rptr. 572 (1966).

⁶ See 1 Armstrong, California Family Law 91-93 (Cum. Supp. 1966).

Accordingly, the Commission makes the following recommendations:

1. Civil Code Section 140.5 defines "quasi-community property" as meaning

all personal property wherever situated and all real property situated in this state heretofore or hereafter acquired:

(a) By either spouse while domiciled elsewhere which would have been community property of the husband and wife had the spouse acquiring the property been domiciled in this state at the time of its acquisition; or

(b) In exchange for real or personal property, wherever situated, acquired other than by gift, devise, bequest or descent by either spouse during the marriage while domiciled elsewhere.

Subdivision (b) of Section 140.5 might be construed to make certain property quasi-community property even though it would be separate property if acquired by a California domiciliary. Some property so acquired during marriage "other than by gift, devise, bequest, or descent" is not community property. Examples of this are the earnings of either spouse after an interlocutory decree of divorce⁷ or decree of separate maintenance,⁸ of the husband after an unjustified abandonment by the wife,⁹ and of the wife while she is living separate from her husband.¹⁰ Such property is not generally of major significance, and in view of the clear purpose of Section 140.5, the courts might construe subdivision (b) of that section as excluding the property from the definition of "quasi-community property."¹¹ Nevertheless, the section should be clarified by conforming

⁷ Civil Code Section 169.2.

⁸ Civil Code Section 169.1.

⁹ Civil Code Section 175.

¹⁰ Civil Code Section 169. See also Civil Code Sections 163.5 and 169.3.

¹¹ See Armstrong, supra note 6. See also Cooper v. Cooper, 269 Adv. Cal. App. 1. (1969).

the operative description in subdivision (b) with that contained in subdivision (a). The identical defect is also present in Section 1237.5 of the Civil Code, Section 201.5 of the Probate Code, and Section 15300 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, and these sections should therefore also be amended in the same fashion.

2. Civil Code Section 140.5 is significant only with respect to divorce or separate maintenance actions.¹² The section now limits quasi-community property to "all personal property wherever situated and all real property situated in this state." However, in the context of an action for divorce or separate maintenance, the exclusion of real property located in another state seems undesirable and constitutionally unnecessary. Real property located in another state may often be an important or even the primary asset acquired by a couple from earnings during their marriage while residing outside of California. But Section 140.5 might be construed to preclude the court from making an appropriate allocation of this marital property in a California action for divorce or separate maintenance.

Real property situated in another state acquired by a California domiciliary with community funds is treated under present California law--by application of the tracing principle--as community property for

12

The section also has applicability in certain support actions but its significance there is limited at most to establishment of a priority of liability. Whether treated as "separate" or "quasi-community" property, the property in question would still be subject to the support orders of the court. See Civil Code Sections 143 and 176.

the purpose of division of the property in a divorce or separate maintenance action.¹³ By a parity of reasoning, similar property acquired by a spouse while domiciled elsewhere with funds which would have been community property had the spouse acquiring the property been domiciled in California at the time of acquisition should be treated as quasi-community--not separate--property upon divorce or judicial separation. Such treatment would create no constitutional problems. The concept would be applicable only if a divorce or separate maintenance action is filed after at least one of the spouses has become domiciled here and the court has personal jurisdiction over the other. In these circumstances California has an interest more than sufficient to provide for a fair and equitable distribution of all the marital property,¹⁴ and California's power to effect such a distribution should not be foreclosed by the fortuity of when or where the property was initially acquired. Accordingly, the Commission recommends that Section 140.5 be amended to embrace all marital property wherever situated.

¹³ See, e.g., *Rozan v. Rozan*, 49 Cal.2d 322, 317 P.2d 11 (1957). The 1961 amendment of Section 164 of the Civil Code did not affect this rule. See Recommendation and Study Relating to Inter Vivos Marital Property Rights in Property Acquired While Domiciled Elsewhere, 3 Cal. L. Revision Comm'n Reports at I-12 and I-13 (1961).

¹⁴ See *Addison v. Addison*, 62 Cal.2d 558, 43 Cal. Rptr. 97, 399 P.2d 897 (1965). See also Schreter, "Quasi-Community Property" in the Conflict of Laws, 50 Cal. L. Rev. 206, 238 (1962). It should, however, be noted that, where real property is located in another state, a California court is limited to a declaration of the rights in that property of the parties properly before it; and, though its decree is entitled to full faith and credit in the situs state, California may not directly affect the title to the land. *Rozan v. Rozan*, 49 Cal.2d 322, 317 P.2d 11 (1957).

The Commission's recommendations would be effectuated by the enactment of the following measure:

An act to amend Sections 140.5 and 1237.5 of the Civil Code, Section 201.5 of the Probate Code, and Section 15300 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, relating to property acquired by married persons.

The people of the State of California do enact as follows:

Civil Code Section 140.5 (amended)

Section 1. Section 140.5 of the Civil Code is amended to read:

140.5. As used in Sections 140.7, 141, 142, 143, 146, 148, 149, and 176 ~~of this code~~, "quasi-community property" means all real or personal property, wherever situated, ~~and all real property situated in this state~~ heretofore or hereafter acquired:

(a) By either spouse while domiciled elsewhere which would have been community property of the husband and wife had the spouse ~~acquiring who acquired~~ the property been domiciled in this state at the time of its acquisition; or

(b) In exchange for real or personal property, wherever situated, ~~acquired other than by gift, devise, bequest or descent by either spouse during the marriage while domiciled elsewhere~~ which would have been community property of the husband and wife had the spouse who acquired the property so exchanged been domiciled in this state at the time of its acquisition.

~~For the purposes of this section, personal property does not include and real property does include leasehold interests in real property.~~

Comment. The definition of "quasi-community property" in Section 140.5 is amended to include all property, wherever situated, which would have been treated as community property had the acquiring spouse been domiciled in California at the time of acquisition. This insures that the division upon divorce or separate maintenance of marital property of California domiciliaries will not be controlled by the fortuity of when or where the property was initially acquired. Under prior law, real property situated in another state was excluded from the definition and was subject therefore to characterization and treatment as separate property, even though it was acquired with what would have been community funds had the spouse acquiring the property been domiciled in California at the time of acquisition. This undesirable disparity has been eliminated.

Subdivision (b) is also amended to equate more precisely its definition of quasi-community property to what would have been the community property of a spouse domiciled in California. The amendment makes clear that property of the type described in Civil Code Sections 163.5, 169, 169.1, 169.2, 169.3, and 175 is not quasi-community property.

Civil Code Section 1237.5 (amended)

Sec. 2. Section 1237.5 of the Civil Code is amended to read:

1237.5. As used in this title:

(a) "Quasi-community property" means real property situated in this state heretofore or hereafter acquired:

(1) By either spouse while domiciled elsewhere which would have been community property of the husband and wife had the spouse ~~acquiring~~ who acquired the property been domiciled in this state at the time of its acquisition; or

(2) In exchange for real or personal property, wherever situated, which would have been community property of the husband and wife had the spouse who acquired the property so exchanged been domiciled in this state at the time of its acquisition ~~acquired-ether-than-by gift,-devise,-bequest-or-descent-by-either-spouse-during-the-marriage while-domiciled-elsewhere .~~

(b) "Separate property" does not include quasi-community property.

Comment. See the second paragraph of the ~~Comment~~ to Section 140.5.

Probate Code Section 201.5 (amended)

Sec. 3. Section 201.5 of the Probate Code is amended to read:

201.5. Upon the death of any married person domiciled in this state one-half of the following property in his estate shall belong to the surviving spouse and the other one-half of such property is subject to the testamentary disposition of the decedent, and in the absence thereof goes to the surviving spouse: all personal property wherever situated and all real property situated in this state heretofore or hereafter acquired:

(a) By the decedent while domiciled elsewhere which would have been the community property of the decedent and the surviving spouse had the decedent been domiciled in this state at the time of its acquisition; or

(b) In exchange for real or personal property, wherever situated, which would have been community property of the decedent and the surviving spouse had the decedent been domiciled in this state at the time the property so exchanged was acquired ~~acquired other-than-by-gift,-devise,-bequest-or-descent-by-the-decedent during-the-marriage-while-domiciled-elsewhere .~~

All such property is subject to the debts of the decedent and to administration and disposal under the provisions of Division 3 of this code.

As used in this section personal property does not include and real property does include leasehold interests in real property.

Comment. See the second paragraph of the Comment to Civil Code Section 140.5.

Revenue and Taxation Code Section 15300 (amended)

Sec. 4. Section 15300 of the Revenue and Taxation Code is amended to read:

15300. For the purposes of this chapter, property is "quasi-community property" if it is heretofore or hereafter acquired:

(a) By either spouse while domiciled elsewhere and would have been the community property of the husband and wife had the spouse ~~acquiring~~ who acquired the property been domiciled in this state at the time of its acquisition; or

(b) In exchange for real or personal property, wherever situated, which would have been community property of the husband and wife had the spouse who acquired the property so exchanged been domiciled in this state at the time of its acquisition ~~acquired-ether-than-by-gift,-devise,-bequest-or-descent-by-either spouse-during-the-marriage-while-domiciled-elsewhere .~~

Comment. See the second paragraph of the Comment to Civil Code Section 140.5.